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Preface





Over the first weeks of 1808, a grand and powerful fleet mustered in the south of England. For weeks Portsmouth harbour resounded by day with the hammering of carpenters, the cries of men from ships at anchor, and echoed by night with song and the stamp of hornpipes from the seamen’s taverns. To all outward appearances, the ships preparing to set sail for the Indian Ocean that season might have been men-of-war, for each was pierced for at least a dozen cannon and some of the larger vessels resembled the new frigates moored at the nearby Royal Navy station of Spithead. In fact, they were East Indiamen, vessels of the self-styled ‘Grandest Company of Merchants in the World’; but, although their purpose was trade, the underlying military nature of the voyage could not have been clearer.


General Arthur Wellesley was soon to open up a front in Portugal against Bonaparte’s seemingly unstoppable march across Europe, and saltpetre, the principal ingredient of gunpowder, had become a strategic resource of the utmost importance. The East India Company fleet, bound for the Coromandel Coast, was contracted to supply the Government with 6,000 tons of Bengali saltpetre, the purest known form of the substance, and the Indiamen were to sail with a Navy escort. This was no idle precaution: while Nelson’s victory at Trafalgar had left England supreme in home waters, the Indian Ocean had never been more perilous. On top of the perennial hazard of storms in the so-called ‘hurricane season’, French frigates and privateers had removed from the Mediterranean in order to prey on English shipping in the Bay of Bengal, and had done so with spectacular success. Ile de France, or Mauritius, a speck of an island in the southern latitudes of that immense ocean, was the minuscule bastion from which these raiders ventured forth; and to such effect that a dozen English merchant ships had been taken in just three months.


On the eve of 3 March, the fleet was ready. Captain Henry Sturrock of the Preston called at The George to tell his most distinguished passenger, Lady Barlow, wife of the Governor of Madras, that the wind had come about and she and her daughters might board in the morning. Well before dawn, shrouded figures gathered at the Sally Port before crunching across shingle to rowing boats. At eight o’clock the first of the Indiamen weighed anchor.


Even as the land slipped away, so did the first life. John Joice, one of a hundred men of His Majesty’s 69th Regiment of Foot, bound for Madras, died before sunset among his comrades on the Canton. At daylight the next day his body was dropped over the side. There was no pause then, or a few days later when Eliza Gamble died on the Hugh Inglis; Eliza was aged four, the daughter of Sergeant William Gamble of the 17th Light Dragoons. But as one young life ended, another began. On the Preston it was recorded: ‘Mrs Brooke, passenger for Madras, was safely delivered of a daughter.’


Three days out they hit bad weather. The Canton’s log for 8 March reads




An amazing high sea running which causes the ship to labour much and take in a great deal of water. Find great difficulty in steering. At 11pm in reefing the foretopsail, James Wilton, ordinary seaman, fell from the yard upon deck and fractured his skull, which caused his death at 4am.





As rapidly as it had come the gale departed and now, with a steady following breeze, the Indiamen rounded Lizard Point, the southernmost tip of mainland Britain, passing out into the Atlantic with the furl and snap of canvas overhead, a bawling in the rigging and the buoyant cheer of men assured that they were the boldest, finest seafarers in the world.


Over the coming months, three more fleets of Indiamen would follow in their wake. By the time an unusually balmy spring had turned to summer, a total of twenty-eight ships had set out for India to collect saltpetre for the Peninsular War. It was to be more than a year before the first came in sight of England again and the ships that anchored in the Downs the following summer were a battered remnant, the sailors a reduced and chastened band. Even the oldest hands confessed that they had never seen anything like it.


Quite what had occurred that season in the Indian Ocean took the Company months to piece together, and even then many mysteries remained. In plain terms, however, the India House had suffered the worst calamity in its shipping history. No fewer than fifteen ships had come to grief: seven simply disappeared, never to be seen again; two went aground and were lost; and six were captured by French frigates – one of them twice. Thousands of tons of saltpetre for the war were at the bottom of the sea. In human terms, more than 1,000 people were dead, many of them ‘personages’.


The Directors of Leadenhall Street, whose usual demeanour was that of Elizabethan pirates, paled. These disasters were linked with that ocean speck, a place so insignificant in size that it was not represented on maps other than as a dot at Lat 20° 15'S, Long 57° 15'E – a volcanic creation that jutted out of the sea like a row of green fangs. Then they recalled William Pitt’s grimly prophetic words twenty years earlier: ‘As long as the French hold the Ile de France, the British will never be masters of India.’ And they resolved on action.




 





The story of that year is partly told in a remarkable collection of books: a series of vast slab-like volumes in gold-lettered maroon board, each the size of a medieval Bible, which cover hundreds of feet of shelf space below the British Library. These are the Indiamen captains’ logbooks, flaking with age, the ink fading, each bearing the hand of the keeper, each strangely opaque and yet revelatory. Each is a diary, set down 200 years ago, of life on a floating island 140 feet in length, on which around 250 souls were confined for half a year. Sometimes they are illegible. Often they make dull reading: endless entries of weather conditions, wind direction, ship routine. Then they will spring to life with incident – with deaths, beatings, storms, and battles. The reader finds himself scanning pages for the tell-tale signs, dense passages of script, often scrawled hastily and in crisis, from which drama at sea emerges in all its terrifying unpredictability.


The East Indiamen were unique. They were merchant ships, they were fighting ships, and they were troopships. Yet they were also the first ships systematically to move civilian passengers around the globe – a forerunner, in a sense, of the great P&O liners of a more cosseted age of travel. Every Company servant in India had this one experience in common, of a great voyage traversing two of the world’s oceans. I became intrigued by the Indiaman as a social cocoon, with life on what one writer (of fiction) called ‘a creaking, leaking incompetent concoction of oak and pitch and nails and faith’, and by images of the great cabin (which was actually quite small) where the rich and privileged, the nabobs, dandies, and military officers (an unhappy species at sea) along with their ladies and children, loved, hated, gamed, drank, feuded, celebrated, sometimes died but usually endured a confinement that lasted anything from four to eight months and which would today be found insupportable.


A second great collection, the logbooks and dispatches of the Admiralty, relate the upshot of the disasters, the Mauritius campaign. This was one of the darker chapters in the Navy’s history and, unsurprisingly, it rarely features in the chronicles of that glowing age, although Patrick O’Brian did exploit its dramatic potential in one of the stories of the fictional Aubrey/Maturin series. Unvarnished, it is a tale of cruelty, mutiny and defeat of a kind that Trafalgar had appeared to make unthinkable.


Among the navy commanders who bestrode the quarterdeck during that time, two in particular stand out: Sir Edward Pellew was a legendary figure, the most spectacularly successful frigate captain of the age, now Commander-in-Chief of the East Indies squadron; and the brutal, tormented Robert Corbet who created a legend of a different kind, as the most hated captain of his day.


Indiamen and navy ships – both were dependent on the crucial figure in all English maritime endeavour, the men who were plucked, frequently against their will, from the lowest rung of early nineteenth-century society, and sentenced to a form of servitude in which they were flogged and abused, and yet who came to occupy a heroic place in popular culture and took the fiercest pride in themselves and their duty.


The hands who sailed in the Indiamen fleets of 1808 were, in a sense, explorers – men of the shires who took leave of families and communities, bound for what they knew by reputation to be places of fabulous strangeness, the Coromandel Coast, the Spice Islands, Cathay. There was no certainty of return but they would have expected that, should they be spared, they would come back with yarns of curious folk and weird creatures. In the event, those who did return, to make their way to the taverns, offering thanks for their survival and raising a tankard to the shipmates they would never see again, had another story to tell. Of storms, mutinies and battles, and all the other dramas of war in the Eastern Seas.

















Dramatis Personae





In India




Rear-Admiral Sir Edward Pellew: commander of the East Indies squadron, aged fifty-one. One of the outstanding figures of naval history, a brilliant frigate captain, fighting commander and all-round man of action, but frustrated in his efforts to bring the French to battle in the Indian Ocean.


Captain Pownoll Bastard Pellew: his elder son, aged twenty-one, a dreamy, romantic fellow and a severe disappointment to his father.


Captain Fleetwood Pellew: the younger of Pellew’s boys, now nineteen, dashing, handsome and showing promise of following in his father’s footsteps.


Sir George Barlow: aged forty-six. Newly arrived and unpopular Governor of Madras. He had briefly been Governor-General in Calcutta, the most powerful official in India, but his background was thought too lowly for so exalted a post and he was replaced by Lord Minto.


Lady Barlow: the Governor’s vivacious wife, now aged thirty-seven. Like her husband, of humble origins, the daughter of a soldier, she had created a vibrant social circle in Calcutta. She was rejoining her husband in Madras after a year in England.


Eliza Barlow: aged nineteen and the eldest of the Barlows’ children (of whom there were thirteen at this stage) she was accompanying her mother to India in the hope of making a good marriage.


Captain Pratt Barlow: a distant relative of the Governor and his aide-de-camp. Aged twenty-three, he had accompanied Lady Barlow to England. 


Lieutenant-General Hay Macdowall: hard-living and aristocratic Commander-in-Chief of the Madras Army, and a bitter foe of the Governor. In his early fifties, he was a heavy drinking and intemperate man.


Sir Henry Gwillim: Judge of the Madras Supreme Court. Another turbulent figure – a radical egalitarian who sympathised with native interests and had fallen foul of the Madras authorities.


Mary Symonds: his sister-in-law, aged about thirty. A strong-minded and spirited woman, she had remained single, but not for lack of suitors.


Lord Minto: recently arrived in Calcutta as Governor-General, aged fifty-seven, born into a line of Scottish aristocrats. Bold, ambitious and able.


William Hope: the tough old ‘nabob’ of Madras, formerly a private in the East India Company’s Army who had gone into trade and made an immense fortune. Had four children by his Indian wife, Kezia.


Emilia Scott: wife of William Scott, a rising star in the Company. She was renowned for having survived a famous wreck, of the East Indiaman Earl of Abergavenny in 1805.





At the Cape




Rear-Admiral Albemarle Bertie: Commander of the Cape squadron, aged fifty-three, he had risen through no act of any particular distinction. Cantankerous yet loyal to his captains


Captain Robert Corbet: shadowy and notoriously brutal commander of the frigate Nereide. Served under Nelson and won his praise but had a record of cruelty long before his arrival at the Cape. His undoubted seafaring abilities had saved him from being disciplined thus far.


Captain Josias Rowley: Commodore, or senior captain, at the Cape, aged forty-three. One of the unsung heroes of navy history, humane, cool-headed and brilliant in an unfashionably self-effacing way, he was on the verge of the defining campaign of his life.


Captain Nesbit Willoughby: an aristocratic firebrand – disputatious, ferociously combative and seemingly indestructible. Aged thirty-one, had survived twice being convicted by courts martial for insolence towards senior officers and now commanded the sloop Otter.


Lord Caledon: young and inexperienced, he had been appointed Governor of Britain’s newest colony while not yet thirty. 





At Ile de France




Charles Decaen: Governor of French territories in the East, one of Bonaparte’s youngest generals and an instinctive authoritarian. Now aged thirty-nine, he dreamt of reclaiming France’s lost colonies in the East, but had been repeatedly let down by the Emperor.


Captain Matthew Flinders: a Royal Navy officer held captive by Decaen since 1803. He made the first circumnavigation of Terra Australis where he met Commodore Hamelin (below) and was sailing home when he called at Ile de France and, suspected of spying, was taken prisoner.


Thomas Pitot: a Port Louis trader and close friend of Flinders, whom he joined in musical evenings and accompanied on walks among the island’s natural beauties.


Captain Jacques Felix Hamelin: Commodore of a formidable new frigate squadron in the Indian Ocean, aged forty. He had engaged in a number of actions in European waters, but his most signal achievement so far had been a voyage of exploration to the South Seas.


Captain Pierre Bouvet: colourful corsair and frigate captain. Born on Bourbon of a seafaring family and grew up in the era of the great Indian Ocean corsair, Robert Surcouf. Repeatedly captured but escaped. An outstanding fighting captain.





Indiaman captains




John Ramsden of the Phoenix: one of the once-notable breed of Indiamen captains who left no mark on history, but who represented the essence of Britain’s seafaring past, an able man in a crisis, and a reassuring presence among his passengers.


Henry Sturrock of the Preston: well-connected among the Company elite, he had made a specialisation of transporting rich and important civilians around the world in the closest that the quarters of an early nineteenth-century Indiaman could come to luxury.


John Dale of the Streatham: famed for an exploit when, as a young third officer, he single-handedly saved more than a hundred survivors of the Winterton wreck off Madagascar in 1792. Now aged thirty-nine, he was one of the Company’s most respected captains.


Henry Meriton of the Ceylon: another renowned officer – one of the few survivors of the loss of the Halsewell and the only Indiaman captain to have taken a French man-of-war.


John Stewart of the Windham: a tough, pugnacious Scot, aged thirty-four. A typical Indiaman captain in that he had been at sea for the greater part of his life. He was commanding his ship on their third voyage to India.





Navy ships, British




Culloden: a 74-gun ship of the line and one of the famous ships of Nelson’s Navy, the scene of a mutiny in 1794 and a veteran of the Battle of the Nile. Since 1804 she had been the flagship of Sir Edward Pellew in India.


Victor: an 18-gun sloop in Pellew’s squadron. Formerly the Revenant, captured from the French, she had been purpose-built for the legendary corsair, Robert Surcouf, and was one of the fastest ships in the Eastern Seas.


Raisonnable: a 64, the first ship in which Nelson served, aged twelve. She was now worn out and attached to the Cape squadron where she was the flagship of Commodore Josias Rowley. He would move from her into the Boadicea, a 38-gun frigate.


Nereide: the 36-gun frigate of Robert Corbet, captured from the French in 1797. Quite possibly one of the unhappiest ships in navy history.


Iphigenia: a new 38-gun frigate at the Cape, commissioned at Chatham in 1808 and commanded by Henry Lambert, an officer who had served under Pellew in India.


Sirius: another 38, with recent service in the Mediterranean, she had been given in 1808 to Captain Samuel Pym and sent to the Cape.





Navy ships, French




Venus: of 44 guns, one of the heaviest and most powerful new French frigates afloat. The flagship of Commodore Jacques Hamelin, she had the capacity to wreak havoc among the East India Company’s ships.


Minerve: an exceptionally large but elderly frigate of 52 guns, captured from the Portuguese; nearing the end of her useful life, she nevertheless added significantly to the squadron at Ile de France.


Bellone: like the Venus, a 44 mounting 18-pounder guns, compared with the usual 12-pounders of British frigates. Commanded by Victor Duperré.
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The Indian Ocean in 1809
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Admiral Pellew’s strategy
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Madras, 3–26 August 1808


The first sail tips were sighted across an empty sea just before noon. A lookout’s call of raucous excitement brought men racing to the battlements of Fort St George. Slowly, from a fiercely shimmering distance, the shapes came into focus until there could be no mistaking their identity: the season’s first Indiaman fleet and their navy escort were approaching Madras. This news was quickly taken to Sir George Barlow and, despite the Governor’s reputation for icy reserve, the return to India of his wife after an absence of almost two years brought him to the ramparts as well. With a thunder of saluting cannons from sea and shore, the ships came to anchor a few hundred yards off where they swayed on that lustrous sea, a thicket of bristling masts – ten Indiamen in all, bearing passengers and cargo for the East India Company’s southern presidency.


On board the Preston, Lady Barlow and her two daughters Eliza and Charlotte sat down to dinner in the great cabin for the last time that afternoon with heartfelt relief. Despite the comparative splendour of their apartment in the roundhouse, Lady Barlow and her girls had found five months quite sufficient for the company of Arthur Brooke, a minor official, his family, and the Misses Dodson.1 A little after half-past four they came on deck where, with a last flourish of gallantry, Captain Henry Sturrock saw the ladies into the ship’s chair before they were lifted clear and lowered into a masoolah, the buoyant palm-tree craft of the local boatmen, for the fraught dash through the surf for which Madras was notorious. They came ashore breathless, more than a little wet and, after so many weeks at sea, decidedly dizzy.


That same day – 3 August 1808 – the Madras Courier brought out an extraordinary edition to announce the arrival of the Indiamen fleet with the Governor’s wife. Trumpeting the first dispatches to be received from Europe in months, the paper was also delighted to report that, contrary to reports of his demise, His Majesty, George III, was in good health.


For weeks the temperature had held at around 40°C, reducing Madras to the state of torpid semi-consciousness that always preceded the monsoon. Now residents emerged from behind shutters and the fort came alive. Indiamen brought the thrill of letters from home as well as the latest news of political and military affairs, not to mention the so-called ‘fishing fleet’, a collection of unattached young women in search of rich husbands.


Another infusion of new blood had been anticipated no less keenly by a tall figure who observed the Indiamen that day from the rear gallery window of HMS Culloden. He was Rear-Admiral Sir Edward Pellew, commander of the East Indies Squadron. She was his flagship, a 74-gun ship of the line, and the floating headquarters of naval operations against Bonaparte in the Indian Ocean.* She had a noble record, was a veteran of Nelson’s triumphant campaigns, including the Battle of the Nile, and it was no fault of Pellew’s that she had seen scant action since he brought her out at the head of the squadron in 1804.


As the Indiamen came to anchor, a lieutenant put off from Culloden in a cutter. He went from ship to ship, ordering the hands to be turned out, inspecting them, the lines of men in their straw hats, loose duck trousers and light blouses, marking the strong in limb and noting those whose skin wore a pallor despite weeks of sun in the yardarms, pausing to ask a man’s rank and taking a particular interest in any whose experience had raised them to the status of perhaps gunner’s mate or foretopman. It was then that he took his pick of them.


There was no question of dissent; the men had time only to go below to bundle up a few possessions and say farewell to their messmates before being rowed across to Culloden. Having signed on for an Indiaman voyage, a round trip of about a year, those pressed into the Navy that day would now stay in the Indies as long as the squadron remained, or their health lasted, or – more likely than either – death intervened. In all, no fewer than 137 men were taken from the ten Indiamen, roughly a tenth of their crews, all prime hands.2


For the Indiamen’s captains there could be no open opposition either. Although they fumed – they were, after all, superior in rank to the lieutenant and finely got up in their gold-braided blue coats, cocked hats, white breeches and silk stockings – an icy reserve towards Culloden’s officer was as much as the situation would bear. Later in their cabins, however, the captains of the Lord Nelson and the Calcutta wrote letters of protest to Pellew, stating that they had been left so short-handed they could not proceed safely. On the strength of their plea, twenty-four men were returned.3


A few days later, Pellew could not but have noted the departure for Bengal of four Indiamen and how clumsily they manoeuvred, now that their best hands had stowed their hammocks on Culloden. He took no pleasure in the fact. He was a seaman first and last, reluctant to interfere in the smooth running of any ship. At the same time he was a true son of the Navy, ruthless in pursuing the needs of the Service, and with resources strained as never before by French resurgence in the Eastern Seas, Pellew had opened what amounted to a campaign against the Company for the bodies of British sailors.




*





Sir Edward Pellew, Rear-Admiral of the White, was a Navy man in the grand tradition, a Cornish seaman’s son who followed his father to sea as a boy of thirteen, scaled the ratlines of promotion through his fighting qualities and ability rather than patronage, and won renown as the most dashing frigate commander of his day. He did not, by his own claim, look the heroic type, being ‘pock Marked, Ugly, Uninteresting and Uneducated’.4 (There was a strong element of hyperbole in this; although the scars of childhood smallpox had blemished his handsome features, Pellew was tall with an air of natural command and splendidly set up, and his letters must be as eloquent as any other great seaman’s.) He also stood out for exceptional courage, or rather utter disdain for danger, in a service in which mere bravery was a prerequisite. His seamanship was outstanding and – that rare and most indefinable quality in a warrior – he was lucky.†


A year older than Nelson, his reputation as a fighting sea officer actually glowed the more brightly until the genius of his illustrious contemporary revealed itself in fleet command. Pellew won his laurels as captain of the Nymphe, a 36-gun frigate, in a bloody engagement off Portland that saw the capture of the superior Le Cléopatre. This was the first sea battle against revolutionary France in 1793 and it turned Pellew overnight into a naval hero, the subject of popular ballads and a knight of the realm. But it was only the beginning. Four years later he fought an action in Indefatigable against a French 74 that entered navy legend: in the only instance of a frigate destroying an enemy ship of the line, he drove the Droits de l’Homme ashore in an all-night battle near Brest.


For a big man his agility was astonishing and even aged forty he could beat any of his hands in a race to the topmast. On his way to lunch in Plymouth on a winter’s day in 1796, Pellew heard that the Dutton Indiaman had gone aground near by with 500 troops, women and children. He raced to the scene, pulled himself out to the ship on a rope, and, finding panic, took charge by threatening to run through any man who did not obey him. As boats came alongside, he supervised the evacuation of women and children, then the troops. All but fifteen lives were saved, and Pellew was cheered to the skies on coming ashore. This single-handed rescue caused another sensation and earned him a baronetcy.


Among his most attractive qualities was a love of chivalry. A French officer recorded how, on receiving a captain’s sword in surrender, Pellew drew his own with the words, ‘Pray take this and keep it as a souvenir of the profound admiration with which your bravery has inspired me’, before offering his wounded foe an arm and conducting him to a cabin beside his own. More than once he provided for the dependants of those he had defeated.


If he was the beau ideal of the navy commander, he also had a human side that included a strong streak of cupidity. He never forgot his humble origins and never missed an opportunity to enhance his fortune, pursuing prize money almost as avidly as he did glory. Nor was he politically innocent. He obtained a seat in Parliament and used his preferment to secure promotion for, as he wrote to a friend, ‘I am older than I was and can’t get to the Mast Head as well as I used. I want to be an Admiral.’5 Duly promoted, he was rewarded with the Indies command. That was in 1804, the year before Trafalgar, when he turned forty-seven.


Four years on, he might have reflected sardonically on the transience of glory. While Nelson had won immortality in death, Pellew had been left to fume in his tropical exile – constrained from prosecuting war at sea and undermined by political enemies at home. True, his piratical eye had brought him a phenomenal amount of prize money. India had made his fortune, to the tune of some £80,000 (about £5 million today). However, Pellew was above all a fighter who had accepted his command ‘in the hope of giving a blow to the inveterate and restless Enemies of Mankind’.6 He had succeeded insofar as destroying a small Dutch squadron in Java. But as for the most inveterate of those foes, he had failed to strike at the French. Worse, they had tarnished the reputation of which he was properly proud.


The trouble was the so-called ‘Gibraltar of the East’, the twin islands of Ile de France and Bourbon, or, as they are now known, Mauritius and Réunion.




*





It is hard today, looking at a map of the Indian Ocean and locating those tiny specks – they lie due east of the vastness of Madagascar like pebbles in the shadow of a mountain – to imagine that at the time they appeared to threaten the East India Company’s control of India, and consequently Britain’s survival as a great power. Quite simply, the benefits of Trafalgar had not been felt in the Eastern Seas. ‘Here alone in the whole world’, the naval historian N.A.M. Rodger has written, ‘there were still French warships at sea in a good state of efficiency.’7 Here alone the French retained a capacity to strike at Britain’s commercial lifeline, and in the past year they had done so from Ile de France with spectacular success – under Pellew’s nose.


Lying off Fort St George – in Madras roads, as the anchorage was known – the East Indies squadron presented a formidable aspect. It comprised four 74s, Culloden, Albion, Powerful and Russel, ten frigates, among them Cornwallis, Terpsichore, Phaeton, Drake, Psyche, Pitt and Fox, and the 18-gun sloops Rattlesnake and Dasher. In reality, they were never in one place, being generally dispersed in escorting merchant fleets. Most were elderly and in need of repairs. And even when they were healthy, their crews most certainly were not. To the usual high attrition rate of life at sea – from action, desertion and accident – had to be added the particular circumstance of service in India, where the virulence of a fever could send a hearty man to his grave in forty-eight hours.


In 1805, Pellew had pressed 818 hands out of the total 6,155 crew from arriving Indiamen. The following year the figure was 694 out of 4,215.8 After furious protests from the East India Company to the Admiralty, an agreement was reached that pressing would be limited ‘so that only such men may be taken out as will not distress the [Company’s] ships’.9 Pellew took note of this stricture when he could but ultimately here was a circle that could not be squared. However many Indiamen hands were pressed, they did not make up the numbers dying on navy ships or who had to be sent home as invalids.


On top of his manning problems, Pellew had a devilishly elusive foe. Bonaparte now lacked the resources for fleet actions; instead, Ile de France and Bourbon provided havens for navy captains and privateers who had no intention of giving battle but proved infuriatingly adept at picking off isolated merchantmen. Captain Jacques Epron’s 44-gun frigate Piemontaise had been especially troublesome until, five months earlier, she was intercepted by the San Fiorenzo, an English 36, and fought to a standstill in an epic three-day action that left Captain George Hardinge among sixty-two dead and reduced both ships to splintered hulks.


An even greater threat – more effective than any frigate captain – was posed by one of the great corsairs. Robert Surcouf had made his name and fortune years before Pellew’s arrival in the East, capturing the 1,200-ton Indiaman Kent in 1800 and retiring to St Malo. At the Emperor’s urging, he returned to Ile de France in 1807 in Revenant, an 18-gun sloop built to Surcouf’s design, her hull completely sheathed in copper, one of the fastest ships afloat. Over the past year, Revenant had become the bane of shipping in the Bay of Bengal, where she had taken more than thirty prizes. In one two-month spell alone, nineteen British vessels were captured by Revenant and two French frigates.


The losses produced squeals of outrage from the merchants of Calcutta who drafted a memorial to the Admiralty, pointing out that ‘the two small islands of Mauritias [sic] and Bourbon’ were the source of their ‘unprecedented suffering’, and laying responsibility directly at Pellew’s door. Surcouf’s activity had been conducted ‘within one hundred leagues of Madras roads, the principal Station of His Majesty’s ships, where at the same time the Flag of a British Rear-Admiral [was] displayed.’10


There was much more – pages of indignation: Pellew had launched an expedition against the Dutch ‘a prostrate foe … when our trade was menaced on all sides with imminent danger’; moreover, ‘notwithstanding the Enemy dispatched their prizes to the Isle of France distant nearly three thousand miles, not a single instance of recapture has occurred’.


Pellew was bitter, and with reason. Finding a handful of French raiders in the vastness of the Indian Ocean was an impossible task. Moreover, although the merchants’ losses were indeed severe, they failed to mention that he had offered to convoy their ships and been declined. It suited the nature of Calcutta’s trade to engage small local vessels, or country ships, for individual voyages rather than wait for convoys to be assembled – even though this exposed them to predators. The Bombay merchants, who accepted Pellew’s offer, had not lost a ship. Nor had any Indiamen been taken, thanks to the convoy system. ‘The merchants of Bengal’, he wrote angrily, ‘have made individual interest their study, and not the general good.’11


The most galling aspect of all, however, was that Pellew had been denied the chance to deal with this evil at source. The merchants rounded off their memorial with a plea that the threat from the islands be removed.


Nothing would have pleased Pellew more. Two years earlier he had presented a plan for a joint Navy and Army invasion, starting with the seizure of Bourbon and followed by a landing on the southern shore of Ile de France. It was the one blow that he could deal to the enemy. Logistically, it was ambitious but, with the Company’s forces in India, feasible. Strategically, it was common sense. The French had lost their last foothold in India with the capture of Pondicherry five years earlier. Seizing Ile de France and Bourbon would drive them from the Indian Ocean once and for all. It was not simply a matter of securing British shipping. Bonaparte, it was known, still nurtured ambitions to supplant Britain in India. As recently as April, Pellew had sailed to Bombay to investigate intelligence that the Emperor was planning an invasion. Though it proved a false alarm, the threat would exist as long as the islands remained in his possession.


In the meantime, Pellew’s plan had been left to gather dust. Whatever the strategic logic, it would require vast resources; and the Company, under pressure from shareholders at a time when its long decline had already begun, was reluctant to commit itself when there seemed a chance that the Government might shoulder the burden. Not for nothing had the India House been called ‘a corporation of men with long heads and deep purposes’.


One small step had been taken. In 1806 British forces recaptured the Cape from the Dutch and based a squadron there under Rear-Admiral Albemarle Bertie to secure the route to India. But its impact had been limited. A blockade of the islands, instituted recently in the hope of starving them into submission, had had little discernible impact; and it had not prevented ships slipping out on raiding expeditions.


Not that Pellew would be concerned with Ile de France for much longer. After four years in Madras, he was to sail home in a few months. Now aged fifty-one, he had suffered in health and, like an old ship, he was starting to wear. ‘My floor timbers are very shaky,’ he wrote to his friend, Alex Broughton, in England. ‘Grey as a badger, fat as a pig and running to belly.’12


Two hopes sustained him. The first was for a last crack at the French. ‘I shall be glad to have one kick at Bonaparte’s flag before I die. I would freely give back the whole for such a day as Trafalgar – how sweetly could I give up Life in such a cause.’13 The other was for the advancement of his two eldest sons. Both had followed him into the Navy, both had accompanied him to India, and for both he had intrigued shamelessly. For if Pellew had one weakness besides money, it was his boys.
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The eldest was Captain Pownoll Bastard Pellew. He had joined the squadron two years earlier as a nineteen-year-old lieutenant, thanks to Pellew’s intervention with Lord St Vincent, the First Sea Lord. Almost immediately Pellew appointed the boy an Acting Captain and then, after an indecently brief pause, given him the Terpsichore, a 32-gun frigate, by way of promotion to Post Captain. It was to be expected that admirals would take certain liberties in their positions, but even so there must have been dark mutterings among the senior captains of the squadron when, shortly before the Indiamen fleet anchored off Madras, Pellew made Pownoll commander of his flagship, HMS Culloden. The lad was aged just twenty-one. 


If he, too, had been a fighting man this nepotism might have passed unnoticed, but Pownoll had none of the fire that burned in his father’s belly. He was a romantic, good-looking boy of sensitive disposition who dreamt not of glory, but of a pretty wife and a cottage in Devon. Pellew, who loved both his sons to distraction, had been slow to recognise this: Pownoll, he protested, was ‘a fine boy’ and ‘a steady good officer’, albeit susceptible to the wiles of the Madras ladies. ‘He is always in love and I have hard work to keep him from the noose,’ Pellew had written recently to Broughton.


In the meantime Fleetwood Pellew, the admiral’s second son, had also joined the squadron. ‘A prodigious fine boy’ in his father’s view, Fleetwood at least showed a real relish for battle, so that when he was given command of a sloop at the age of seventeen it seemed less scandalous. He cut a dashing figure as well, being brave and even more handsome than his brother, and when he won his spurs in the expedition against the Dutch at Java, his father’s pride in writing to Broughton was unrestrained:




He led the squadron with the greatest judgment … He placed his ship ag’t the Dutch frigate and batteries with equal skill and led in the boats to Boarding … I assure you, a prettier exploit I never saw. You will say Aye, Aye, here is the Father. I have done – but I assure you I say not half of what others say of him. My heart swelled when I heard a general shout on board Culloden – Well done, Fleetwood well done, bravo – was the cry all around me. What Father could have kept his Eyes dry? I was obliged to wipe them before I could again look thro’ the glass.14





More and more it was his younger son who won his favour. Fleetwood was ‘beyond comparison the finest youth of the Squadron, universally beloved’, ‘a real treasure’, and ‘the flower of my flock and the flower of my fleet’. In May, when he was nineteen, Pellew gave him command of the frigate San Fiorenzo – replacing the gallant Hardinge who had been killed in the action with Piemontaise – and sent him off in search of further glory.‡


Meanwhile, though his affection for the elder was not diminished, the admiral had belatedly realised that Pownoll was no warrior. He had recently written to Broughton: ‘Can you find a nice Wife for him? He is a good fellow and is extremely anxious to be married and settled as he calls it.’ The young ladies of Madras were not to be trusted for ‘they really push them[selves] upon the boys in so bare faced a manner they can hardly get off without saying soft things.’ Pownoll’s last hope, he thought, was to find ‘a good Girl with either Money or Connections’.15


Thus were matters poised when the Indiaman fleet bearing Lady Barlow and her two daughters anchored off Madras on 3 August. Pellew was on cordial terms with Sir George Barlow and, during the public revels that followed the return of the Governor’s wife, it was not lost on the admiral that Eliza, the Barlows’ charming and accomplished elder daughter, was a good girl with money and connections. The old fox may, therefore, have had more in mind than simply a warm gesture when the Madras Courier announced on 17 August: ‘Cards of invitation have been issued by His Excellency Sir Edward Pellew for a Ball on the 26th inst, at which time the Company will be invited to meet Lady Barlow.’
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Palanquins and carriages came bobbing along the Mount Road that evening, proceeding up a drive lit by torches to the Admiral’s House, where they were met by Pellew and his elder son, tall men both, sweating furiously in their blue-and-gold uniforms and breeches. Guests remarked on the dazzling decor of Pellew’s residence and, a charmingly gracious touch, that the ballroom floor had been freshly painted with Sir George Barlow’s arms, in honour of his wife.16


All the nabobs were in attendance. There was William Hope, the very incarnation of the Company’s entrepreneurial spirit, once a lowly army private and now the richest man in Madras, with ethics as rough as his business methods. Some way off, no doubt, for they were bitter antagonists, stood Sir Henry Gwillim, judge of the Supreme Court and a radical – some said revolutionary – Whig of incandescent temper. In the corner was William Petrie, a leathery old hand who, as Second in Council, was the Governor’s deputy; he was also an embittered man who loathed his superior and intrigued constantly against him.


The only notable absentee was Lieutenant-General Hay Macdowall, Commander-in-Chief of the Army. As he was Petrie’s sole rival in his detestation of Sir George Barlow, the general might not have attended anyway, but on this occasion he was away from Madras.


Lady Barlow made a convincing belle, being led off in the first set by Pownoll Pellew, then through a cotillion. The Governor evidently did not dance but his aide-de-camp, a distant relative named Captain Pratt Barlow, cut an elegant figure on the floor. The Madras gentry were proud of their dress – ‘costume was as gay as, nay, gayer than that of England’, one visitor wrote – and ladies in velvet or silk, in crimson, green and scarlet, swirled across the floor with partners in gold-brocade coats and buckskin breeches. Their stamina was astonishing for, as was pointed out, ‘no one went to church without losing some ounces by perspiration; how much more then under the exercise of the dance?’17


Supper was announced at midnight, when Lady Barlow was led by the admiral through a path of blue lights to tents pitched in the garden, ‘followed by all the gay circle’ while a band played ‘The Roast Beef of Old England’. Pellew was a highly sociable creature as well as a fighting man; he kept a good table and had not stinted on drink.




The Supper was a display of every delicacy which was procurable and the wines were of the first quality. Champagne was most liberally supplied and by its exhilarating powers caused the Dancing to be resumed with, if possible, additional spirit. It was not until 4 in the morning that the Country Dances were given up. In this finale his Excellency the Admiral danced with Lady Barlow with a spirit and activity equal to the youngest man present. Her Ladyship, altho she had danced the whole evening, entered equally into the spirit of the scene and thus the party finished with the same éclat as it had commenced. Afterwards a few thirsty souls sat down to a second supper at which some appropriate patriotic songs were sung until daylight.18





Lady Barlow had brought a breath of new life to Madras, and its inhabitants were grateful. They noted her outgoing informality, her energy on the dance floor, especially when partnered by the Governor’s dashing young aide, and contrasted her manner with the cold, reserved demeanour of her unpopular husband.


All in all, the evening was such a triumph that it came as no surprise when the admiral’s son announced that he would stage a second ball two weeks later. This too was ostensibly in Lady Barlow’s honour, but to anyone present the true purpose soon became apparent as Captain Pellew danced with nineteen-year-old Eliza Barlow until the early hours of the morning. Whatever intimacies they exchanged that night were sufficient to prompt the delivery of an envelope a day later at the Governor’s House. It contained the lines from Romeo and Juliet beginning ‘O! She doth teach the torches to burn’, followed by a poem – one of unusual eloquence considering that it came from the hand of a callow if romantic young sea officer and was in that most awkward form, the acrostic:








Mark! Midst the boasted beauties, rare


In this gay scene of peace and joy


Say – who so shines, supremely fair,


So graceful moves to melody?













By all the sylphs that hover here


And guard the maidens of the plain


Robb’d from some higher, happier sphere


Love sure has brought her Here to reign!


O’er each fond, conscious youth, to hand control,


With angel face and form, to charm the soul.19





Miss Barlow could have little imagined that her fortunes would take so swift a turn. But it was not unusual for fresh ‘fishing fleet’ arrivals to be snapped up on Madras’s marriage market and the particular circumstances made a prolonged courtship impossible. When the admiral sailed home in Culloden in just a few weeks, so would Captain Pellew.
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* A ship of the line was one of between 64 and 100 guns, powerful enough to be in a line of battle during major fleet actions. In general, most Navy ships in the East Indies at the time were frigates of 36 or 38 guns.


† There are echoes here of Patrick O’Brian’s hero ‘Lucky’ Jack Aubrey, but Pellew is perhaps best remembered today as a character in another navy fiction series, C.S. Forester’s Hornblower stories.


‡ Pellew’s great rival Sir Thomas Troubridge was at least as blatant in providing for his son. But whereas Pellew was endlessly tolerant, Troubridge was stern. On hearing that his son had acquitted himself well, Troubridge remarked: ‘Had he done otherwise I would with great composure put a pistol ball through his nob.’
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A Petition from Bombay
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Madras and Bombay, 15 September–20 October 1808


Through those searing weeks of the approaching monsoon HMS Culloden lay at anchor off Fort St George. Pellew, drafting his final orders from Madras, could anticipate sailing home with satisfaction. He had made his fortune and provided liberally for his sons. News had just arrived of his promotion to Vice-Admiral of the Blue. And now those perfidious wretches, the Calcutta merchants, had come to him as petitioners: they desired that their next sailing to Penang should be in convoy; would Sir Edward be so good as to provide them with an escort? It was a small victory, but one to savour.


Midway through September, Pellew received intelligence that was to bear significantly on his plans. It came in a letter from HMS Nereide, a frigate of Admiral Bertie’s squadron, now come to anchor in Bombay. Her commander, Captain Robert Corbet, wrote that while lately engaged in blockading Ile de France he had captured an enemy brig and learnt that the island had just been reinforced ‘by two very fine Frigates, Manche and Caroline’.1


Corbet’s news was disturbing but not entirely bad. The corsair Surcouf was about to quit the Eastern Seas as a result of a quarrel with Charles Decaen, the dictatorial Governor of Ile de France; Decaen had requisitioned the Revenant, claiming it was needed for the island’s defence, and, when Surcouf objected, seized his possessions. The new French ships, both of 40 guns, would join the Canonnière, a similarly large but elderly frigate. They were faster and more powerful than any British frigate in these seas and, in the hands of a man like Surcouf, could have spelled disaster. Much would depend on their commanders. For now Pellew was simply glad to know of their presence, having been ill-served in the past with information on French ships. ‘For the most part,’ he complained, ‘the first intelligence of their appearance in the Bay of Bengal is announced by their success.’2


Captain Corbet’s dispatch was followed a few days later by a second letter from the Nereide – but one of a quite different character. It was in a rough hand, dated 28 August, and came through an unofficial channel. Its contents were clear enough, however, and as Pellew read curiosity turned to concern. It was a petition, from the crew:




Your petitioners [have] never before experienced such oppressive usage as we now labour under, under the command of Capt Robert Corbet, whose capricious temper on the least occasion will cause us to be beaten with large sticks which he has given directions to be made. There are a number of men who have been beaten to such a degree (some three or four times a day) they have been incapable of doing their duty. He also at other times punished men with a Thief’s Cat* and when the skin was broke has put salt pickle on their backs.3





There was more: shore liberty had been denied and sentries were posted around the ship to prevent desertions. ‘We are more like a prison ship than a man of war. From gunfire in the morning until sunset the gangway is attended by the master of arms to prevent more than two men at a time going to the privy … so some discommode their trowsers.’


It ended with a plea: ‘We humbly beg that you will take it into your most serious consideration and grant us some redress, either give us another captain or draft us into some other ship under your command … This is the second letter we have written, fearing the first had miscarried.’


Pellew was in an awkward position. He knew Robert Corbet by reputation – as a zealous and well-regarded captain (he liked to remind colleagues that he had won praise while a young officer from no less than Lord Nelson) – and the Nereide was engaged on vital blockade duty. In his younger days Pellew had been a strict disciplinarian himself and knew about troublesome crews. These forces had collided to produce a mutiny while he was captain of HMS Impetueux in 1799, for which three men were hanged. But whatever his faults, Pellew was never a cruel or oppressive commander and while the Nereides’ petition could not be altogether taken at face value, it had a ring of authenticity that impressed him. These were respectful, experienced hands. Referring to Corbet’s habit of abusing them as ‘Cowards’, they wrote: ‘We cannot perceive how we merit [this] as we have never had the pleasure of being in an action with him but a number of us have been in several actions where we always endeavoured to support the British Flag triumphant.’


Pellew’s initial concerns may have been allayed by the arrival a day or so later of a letter from Corbet himself. It was dated 31 August, three days after the petition.




Sir, I lose no time in informing your Excellency that this morning (through the usual means of seamen accusing each other) I discovered that one or more anonymous letters had been sent to your Excellency by part of the crew of this ship against me their captain … Three good men, one a petty officer, are concerned in it, no more.4





Though he was unlikely to have been won over by its contemptuous tone towards the men, Pellew was reassured. Corbet requested a court-martial hearing, as was proper, and advised that three of his accusers had been sent ‘out of the dread of punishment’ to HMS Powerful, pending a hearing. Pellew replied approvingly: ‘The measures you have pursued … are perfectly satisfactory to me and honourable to your character.’5 He then issued Corbet with two specific orders.


As Pellew pointed out, he was about to quit India and, with the early departure of two other ships, it was unlikely that enough captains could be assembled at Bombay for a court martial. If this proved the case, Corbet was to ‘proceed immediately to the Cape of Good Hope and lay the whole of the proceedings before the Commander in Chief of that station in order that he may take such measures as the case shall appear to him to demand’.


Pellew then went on: ‘You will be pleased to read this letter to the ship’s company and assure them that every attention shall be paid to their complaints.’ His concern for Nereide’s company was commendable. It was also good sense. Handling men cruelly was not only an affront to decency, it was a wilful squandering of resources. Pellew had established himself in India as a leading reformer in the trend towards milder navy discipline. He insisted on receiving monthly punishment returns from every ship under his command, a system later adopted by the Admiralty for general use. In fact, had Pellew been able to inspect Nereide’s log at this point he could only have been the more deeply disturbed.
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Corbet had assured Pellew that ‘so far as being in a dangerous state, Nereide’s discipline is at this moment surpassed by no ship’.6 However, the nature of his disciplinary regime is revealed by a fairly typical handful of entries on the ship’s passage to Bombay.




29 July, off St Mary’s Island: Patrick Dunn 48 lashes for theft. Thos Christian 72 lashes for attempting to desert. Robt Viner 48 Do for Do [i.e. ditto for ditto]. Thos Brown, Wm Dowling & Michael Sorcedore 36 each for Do, Inigo Gardner 12 for neglect & Inigo Finnamore 36 for sleeping on duty.




 





2 August: Edwd Hurst & Michael Purcell 36 lashes each for straggling. George Less, Michael Keefe & Thos Warstone 48 Do for Do, Inigo Carrim 60 for Do, Wm Jones 24 for Do, Joshua Dodd & Edwd Kirkham 24 for neglect, Wm Wiggins 24 for dirtiness.7





There then followed ten days of only intermittent beatings before Corbet again got the bit between his teeth:




12 August: George Parkinson 36 lashes for drunkenness, Inigo Gardner 24 Do for dirtiness, Joshua Flynn 24 for disobedience of orders, Thos Christian 48 Do for straggling, Robt Viner 36 Do for Do, Thos Brown 36 for dirtiness, Richard Mason 11 for Do & Thos Barlow 12 for Do.





The crew’s petition had not exaggerated. HMS Nereide was that rare but terrible thing in the Navy, a hell afloat.


Having declared his desire to face his accusers at a court martial, Corbet proceeded to do everything he could to avoid it. The opportunity was provided by a diplomatic mission.


London and Calcutta were full of fears at the time over Bonaparte’s apparent intention to launch a seaborne invasion of India from Ile de France and Persia. Calcutta, in the person of Lord Minto, the Governor-General, had responded by sending an envoy, General Malcolm, to dissuade the Shah from cooperation with the French. London, in the meantime, sent out its own emissary, Sir Harford Jones, who had just arrived in Bombay on his way to Persia. Even though Jones already had a ship at his disposal, Corbet took it upon himself to offer Jones a passage to the Persian port of Abushire in the Nereide and informed Pellew accordingly.


Now the admiral started to smell a rat. On 19 September he wrote to Corbet:




I trust you will have carried into execution the orders I have already sent you for your return to your station without delay. The Admiralty have provided for [Jones’s] conveyance, giving the Sapphire for his accommodation … Sir Harford Jones must on all such occasions direct his requests and reasons for my consideration and you are not to exercise any discretional power in that reference.8





But Corbet had not waited for a reply, having sailed for Persia on 11 September. Pellew was furious and now convinced that something serious was amiss.


Over the following weeks, while the Nereide made her way up the Persian Gulf to Abushire, the mood on the quarterdeck was as savage as the heat: two men were tied up and given twenty-four each for fighting; two more received the same for disobedience; the following day one got thirty-six for ‘mutinous expression’, and three others two dozen for disobedience. Quite what acts of disobedience were required to attract punishment is never spelled out, but this – along with insolence and contempt – became the charge most frequently cited in the pages of Nereide’s otherwise chillingly opaque logbook.


She returned to Bombay briefly towards the end of October – around the same time as the Lord Eldon and four other Indiamen anchored at the end of a rapid 123-day passage from Portsmouth. Corbet’s reputation may have preceded him because when a lieutenant from Nereide came on board the Lord Eldon, a hand named John de Silva jumped overboard and swam to shore. From the Indiaman’s crew of fifty-three, the lieutenant picked out four, including the remarkable figure of Hector McNeil, a sixty-three-year-old sailmaker. Although the Lord Eldon’s log makes plain that they were pressed, they were entered in Nereide’s book as volunteers.9


Also awaiting Corbet at Bombay was Pellew’s letter of 19 September. Its icy tone at last precipitated action. Expressing regret at ‘Your Excellency’s expressions of displeasure’, Corbet replied that he had ‘determined upon putting to sea immediately in execution of your orders and of submitting everything as it now stands to the Commander of the Cape Station’.10 The delay had been fatal, however. When Nereide sailed again from Bombay she was a fireship, primed and ready to explode.
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The monsoon came early that year and it had been raining for some days when carriages came sloshing up the muddy track to St Mary’s Church on 1 October for the marriage that united two of the leading families in British India. The pews were packed, on the one side, with the blue-and-gold ranks of the Navy squadron, and on the other by Sir George Barlow, his lady, and the redcoats of the Company establishment. At the altar stood Captain Pownoll Pellew and Eliza Barlow. He was twenty-one, she was nineteen, and just eight weeks had elapsed since their meeting.


Madras had barely recovered its breath when another sensational item of gossip swept like a monsoon wind among the groups gathering on Mount Road in the evening. This was that each of the delighted fathers had contributed equally towards a staggering dowry of £20,000.11 Youth, beauty, position – and now wealth as well. It seemed hard to imagine any union more blessed by fortune and circumstance.


While the Pellew romance had kept everyone talking through the onset of the rains, a second subject was not far behind it – the Governor’s wife. The presidency had never had a first lady like Lady Barlow, certainly not one who mingled with the inhabitants so freely, and the weeks had passed in an unbroken succession of receptions, levees and masquerades. Guests spoke of her ‘condescension and affability’, and of her sociability, while her energy on the dance floor was the subject of admiration and amazement. Her midday tiffin parties were ‘a table of gaiety in which she was fond of indulging’.12 It was widely said that she took too much wine at such times, but then drinking in India attracted little attention other than from the Directors, who sometimes admonished their distant servants for ‘incorrigible sottishness’.


Sensuality and flirtation were features of Madras life, as Maria Graham, the wife of a navy captain, made clear in an account of her visit at this time. A Madras lady’s day, she wrote, consisted of little more than holding court to young men in the morning, taking liberally of wine at dinner, undressing for an afternoon rest with a novel, then returning to the table before setting off for a night of dancing.13 All of which sounds typical of Lady Barlow’s daily round. She may have raised a few eyebrows by appearing at a masquerade as Mary Queen of Scots, on the arm of the Governor’s aide-de-camp as Darnley. But the settlement little suspected as yet that the Governor’s wife was in the grips of an intoxication that went well beyond her love of wine and dancing.14
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Although there would seem to be echoes here of a British India that is familiar, these are deceptive. The Madras of 1808 bore no relation to the Raj era, the world of clubs and hill stations, of pukka sahibs and their sharp-eyed mems, of tight dress, rigorous respectability and unspeakable snobbery.


It was the first English settlement in India, having been established in 1640, fully fifty years before Calcutta, and it was always different. For one thing, the site could scarcely have been less suitable to its purpose as a trading port for, crucially, there was no harbour. Fort St George stood at the edge of a sandy beach that stretched away for miles in either direction, offering ships neither pier for landing nor shelter from the storms that battered the eastern seaboard of India, the Coromandel Coast, during the hurricane season. Now, as they had for the 170-odd years since Madras’s founding, ships anchored off the fort, leaving their human and mercantile cargoes to be ferried over a sand bar to the beach.


Nor did that first view of the place, invariably glimpsed from the sea, offer much to charm the new arrival. ‘The long flat shore, unrelieved by bay or cove, gave no promise that it would contain behind the fringe of coconut palms anything to fascinate the eye,’ wrote one visitor.15 The next phase of the introduction was uncomfortable, and often dangerous, as the newcomer took the hair-raising ride to shore in a masoolah. Only then did Madras start to reveal its capacity to beguile.16


Dominating the settlement was Fort St George, a bastioned pentagon. The town that lay within the fort, however, was a surprisingly tranquil place of gardens and neoclassical structures. What gave each building a distinctive brilliance under that tropical sky was chunam, a stucco of ground seashells that polished to a marble-like sheen: there was Government House; there the homes built by two distinguished former residents, Robert Clive and Arthur Wellesley; and there exquisite St Mary’s, the oldest Protestant church in the East, a magical creation of artisan design and skills.


Few of the inhabitants stayed in the fort. ‘Everybody lives in the country,’ wrote one bemused visitor, Maria Graham. Another called it ‘a city of magnificent distances’. The European suburbs lay south-west of the fort, where residents were borne in the ubiquitous litter known as the palanquin along Mount Road, an avenue as ‘smooth as a bowling green and planted on each side with banyan and yellow tulip trees’. Trees were one of the glories of Madras – palms, tamarinds, blossoming flamboyants, the peepuls, with their feathery leaves trembling lightly in a breath of air, and, towering above them all, the banyans with trunks as thick as oaks, sprouting tendrils that drooped to the ground in plumes, like leafy waterfalls.


The Madras gentry had indeed given themselves space to breathe, building their fine homes amid lush acres at the end of long, tree-lined drives. These houses were of a style characteristic of the English presence throughout the East: double-storeyed, with an elegant portico above a ground level with arches around an area that was used mainly for storage, known as the go-down. A broad staircase led to the upper level with a central hall, high-ceilinged rooms and verandahs. Windows were shuttered or screened with rattan – kept constantly wet during the hot season – to allow airing.


There was of course an earthier side to the settlement – a warren of taverns, punch houses and trading establishments that lay just north of the fort’s bastions and was known as Blacktown. Once inhabited entirely by native Indians, it had become a racial and cultural stewpot where many less-affluent English made their homes. James Wathen, a visitor of the time, found ‘Hindoos, Portuguese, Chinese, Persians, Arabs and Armenians’, as well as sailors on leave and soldiers from the garrison. Here, too, was to be had a flavour of the exotic: jugglers, sadhus and sword-swallowers. The population of Blacktown also bore testimony to a time when whites, notably soldiers, had been encouraged to intermarry with Indian women and so produce a new assimilated generation of Company servants.


Despite this diversity, however, Madras was virtually defined by its isolation. Like the ships at anchor, its contact with the outside world was sporadic. Like the ships, too, it was a small community, looking either in on itself or out to sea, and distant from regulating pressures. If Calcutta was the sophisticated metropolis of Company India – Regency Bath relocated in the Bay of Bengal, according to William Dalrymple – Madras was its wild frontier, a place hostile to authority, representing at its best a spirited individualism, at its worst an undisciplined rapacity. The ‘Gentlemen of the Coast’, as the merchant class liked to be known, were buccaneers in the full sense of the word. Governors were rarely popular and one who tried to interfere with institutionalised corruption, Lord Pigot, was overthrown by his soldiers in 1776 and died in their custody.


Now, once again, the settlement and its presiding authority were in conflict.




*





The portrait of Sir George Hilaro Barlow that still hangs within the ramparts of Fort St George shows a slight, angry-looking man. The opulent dress – lace cuffs and gorgeous red cloak, set off with the Order of the Bath – sits awkwardly on this pugnacious, terrier-like figure. It is by no means a distinguished piece of art, but in declining to endow his subject with false dignity, the artist, George Watson, succeeded in depicting a lone Englishman at odds with his stormy domain, and produced something quite unlike the run-of-the-mill imperial portrait.


History has not been kind to Barlow – ‘by nature a time-server … lacking in breadth of vision’, as one historian described him. Certainly, in an age of dazzling proconsuls, he lacked lustre, and he was not helped by an aloof manner, the refuge of many a shy spirit. His background was distinctly common. He came from trade when that was a taint, even in India; the diarist William Hickey sneeringly called him ‘the silk mercer of Covent Garden’– for such was his father’s business – and avowed that ‘nature had intended him for nothing more elevated’. But while Hickey’s memoirs are a vivid record of the age, his judgement was, at best, capricious – and his summation of Barlow well wide of the mark. ‘I do not believe’, he wrote, ‘he had one individual person about whom he cared or in whose welfare he felt at all interested.’17 Sir George was, in fact, devoted to his wife.


He had come to Madras eight months earlier in unfortunate circumstances. His entire service, since 1779, had been in Calcutta where he had been unexpectedly catapulted into the position of Governor-General by the sudden death of Lord Cornwallis. Through no fault of his, it was then decided in London that a more exalted being was required in the post and Barlow was relegated to the southern presidency.†


Unsurprisingly, Madras detested him from the outset, as an outsider as well as a loyal Company man whose orders were to root out corruption in a place where it was rampant. It did not help either that he was displacing a long-serving local official, William Petrie, who, as his deputy, set out to undermine him. Barlow’s biggest challenge of all, however, was imposing reforms on the Madras Army, and a new commander with grievances of his own, Lieutenant-General Hay Macdowall.


In the days after his daughter’s wedding, Barlow sat at a desk that took in a great sweep of the Indian Ocean and gave thanks for this brief respite from Macdowall. Some weeks earlier the general had left Madras with an entourage borne by a caravan of bullocks. Nominally, he was doing his rounds, bolstering morale in outlying forts. In reality, however, it was plain that Macdowall, far from raising spirits, was fanning the embers of discontent. Reports had started to filter back to Fort St George – of revelry, heavy drinking and wild talk around mess tables at which the general had been present; of toasts to the military brotherhood and, astonishingly, to the coup that had deposed Lord Pigot as Governor.18


The well-known public difficulties of Barlow’s life were accompanied by private, not to say secret, concerns. He could only have been gratified by the splendid match so rapidly made by Eliza with the son of his good friend Sir Edward Pellew. His wife was another matter. Lady Barlow had become a cause of profound anxiety to the Governor.


George Barlow and Elizabeth Smith met in Calcutta in 1789 – ten years after his arrival as a writer, or clerk, the lowest office in the Company’s administration – and married in haste. Elizabeth was nineteen and George twenty-seven at the time of a union that was undoubtedly highly physical: Eliza, their first child, was born within seven months, and she was followed by further children at almost yearly intervals. Elizabeth appears to have been of humble beginnings; her father was probably an Irish soldier, Burton Smith. There is no record of her appearance, but her rise in Indian society indicates that she was attractive, perhaps a beauty. She was, at any rate, vivacious and uninhibited, as well as being extremely fond of claret and a veritable dervish on the dance floor.19


Her husband, by contrast, was shy to the point of diffidence, a modest, conscientious official, conspicuous among the high-living exotics of Company India for his integrity. All of which makes him sound rather a dull dog. But he won the respect of the magnificent Lord Wellesley, one of the most flamboyant of India’s Governor-Generals. Wellesley, elder brother of the later Duke of Wellington, made Barlow his deputy and recommended him as his successor, citing his ‘eminent talents, knowledge, integrity and discretion’.20 Remarkably, the aristocrat had a personal liking for the shy plebeian. They were friends and Wellesley spoke of his ‘warm and unalterable sentiment of private regard and respect’ for Barlow.21


In 1805 Lord Cornwallis, the new Governor-General, died and the impossible happened. The silk-mercer’s son moved to Government House – to the unadulterated delight of his wife. Calcutta had long been without an active first lady and her love of gossip, riding, dancing and music made her a highly visible figure. It was at this time that Sir George (he had been created a baronet two years earlier) took on as his aide-de-camp Captain Pratt Barlow, aged twenty and the son of a cousin. Patronage virtually defined Company India and the young man came out with a reference from Sir George’s brother, William, who thought him ‘well-informed, persevering, of mild and amiable temper & gentlemanly manners’.22


No sooner had Barlow been confirmed as Governor-General than he was being undermined. Lobbying began in London to have him replaced by a man of ‘Rank, Weight and Consideration’. At this point Lady Barlow returned to England.


Barlow was too shrewd not to anticipate the likely outcome of the wrangling. It seems that he was considering a dignified withdrawal and that Lady Barlow was to establish a home in anticipation of his return, while at the same time installing the youngest of their still-growing brood of children in school. For this purpose Barlow took the entire passenger section of a fast-sailing brig, the Mercury, for his wife, three children and three servants. As a woman of rank she was thought to require an escort. The role fell to the young officer who had become almost part of their household – Captain Pratt Barlow. Whether the choice excited any attention at the time is not clear, but an observer of what followed remarked:




I have made long voyages and I say that if I had been Sir George Barlow I would not have permitted my wife to make such a voyage for six months, a woman of such fascinating talents, which made it most dangerous to trust her without a female companion.23





They landed at Falmouth in April 1807 and proceeded to London. In the many months that followed it would have been remarkable had Barlow not noted a change in the tone and frequency of his wife’s letters. At first they were marked by her usual fondness, addressed to her ‘dearest, beloved Barlow’.24 Then they dropped off and finally ceased.


But if Lady Barlow had fallen silent about her doings, Sir George’s brother had not. William Barlow was his closest sibling and, while not explicitly critical, hinted that ‘my sister’, as he called Lady Barlow, spent too much time in society and not enough with her children. Then there was her phenomenal extravagance: in five months after her arrival, she had called on him for a total of £1,400.25 As the rent of 13 guineas a week for her house in Hollen Street was already paid, she had gone through the fantastic sum of £100 a week. Even for the wife of an Indian nabob, such spending was almost unimaginable.


Over these months William had suffered other doubts. Though he never spelled them out the allusion was clear. A statement of expenditure that he kept, detailing Lady Barlow’s demands, gave no details of what the money had been spent on but noted that it had been collected on her behalf ‘by Captain Pratt Barlow’. It was also evident that these drawings had ceased at the end of August 1807, just before the young officer sailed back to India.26 Privately, at least, William had started to entertain doubts about the character of the man he had so heartily recommended, and his earlier breezy confidence that ‘he will not disgrace his [family’s] name’.


Around this time it was finally resolved that Barlow should indeed be replaced by a nobleman, and Lord Minto was sent out to Calcutta. Barlow was appointed to Madras with the Order of the Bath as a sop. Lady Barlow sailed back to India, with their two eldest girls.


But her return had not relieved his anxieties. It would perhaps have been expecting too much for a renewal of the ardour that had brought them thirteen children in nineteen years of marriage. Still, Lady Barlow was only thirty-seven, while Sir George was an extremely fit forty-six, and he must have hoped for a demonstration of that open affection which had always been so marked on her side. In this he had been disappointed.


Did he now start to have suspicions? That Lady Barlow was spending a good deal of time with his young aide and had taken to riding out with him was public knowledge. But though the signs were there, events were to show that Sir George was almost the last to accept evidence of his wife’s infatuation with Captain Pratt Barlow. 
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* The cat-o’-nine-tails, the standard instrument of navy punishment, consisted of nine lengths of cord each of about two feet, attached to a handle and knotted at the end of each strand. The much-detested thief’s cat had more and larger knots and was in theory used only on men found guilty of stealing.


† The East India Company was founded by a Royal Charter of 1600 by which Queen Elizabeth I granted a small company of London merchants a monopoly of all English trade to the east of the Cape of Good Hope. Having competed initially against European rivals – Portuguese, Dutch and French – the Company had become by this time the most dominant body in the history of world trade. It had also evolved far beyond its initial charter as a mercantile body into an imperial power. The three presidencies of Calcutta, Madras and Bombay provided local administration and imposed taxes as well as conducting trade. Each presidency had its own standing army, consisting mainly of white officers of the Company’s Army and local sepoy troops. Each presidency had once been autonomous but, since the creation of the post of Governor-General in the late eighteenth century, Calcutta (or Bengal as it was sometimes known synonymously) had been the senior presidency, the Company’s headquarters in India. Madras and Bombay still had their own governors with local responsibilities but they could be held to account by the Governor-General who, in turn, took his orders from the Directors at the East India House in London. In the meantime, because of its vital contribution to Britain’s growing economic prosperity – indeed, to its transition as a global power – the Company had lost its independence from Parliament. Senior positions, both in London and Calcutta, had to be approved by the government and, increasingly, the India House and Whitehall became entwined. As the Company’s domains grew, so did imperial and strategic objectives, drawing in the forces of the Crown – the Navy to maintain control over the eastern trade route, and the Army to supplement the Company’s forces in Bengal, Madras and Bombay. This was not merely against the possibility of conflicts with local rulers but with France which, while it had abandoned trade interests in India since the loss of its last territory, Pondicherry, still sought opportunities to destroy Britain’s economic powerbase.
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